
Labor Law

By Peter Reed Corbin* and John F. Dickinson**

Calendar year 1978 marked another heavy case load for the United
States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit in the ever-expanding spe-
cialty of labor law.' Of the approximately 106 cases decided by the court
under the various federal statutes governing the employment relationship,
a significant number involved noteworthy, previously unanswered ques-
tions. No attempt has been made to discuss every single decision handed
down by the court. However, in order to provide a complete survey article,
those cases of at least some precedential value have been treated to some
extent.

I. LABOR-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS AcT

As in past years, the majority of labor cases fell within the purview of'
the Labor-Management Relations Act (Taft-Hartley Act).2 Approximately
sixty-two of the court's 1978 cases concerned its review of decisions by the
National Labor Relations Board. The court continued its liberal use of
Local Rule 21,3 disposing of approximately twenty of its NLRB cases in this
manner. For those labor-management attorneys wishing to assess their
chances of a successful Fifth Circuit appeal, the court granted enforcement
in thirty-six of the sixty-two Board orders it reviewed (or 58%), denied
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1. The following federal statutes are included within the scope of this article: Labor-
Management Relations Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. §§151-187 (1970); Labor-Management
Reporting and Disclosure Act, 29 U.S.C.A. §§401-531 (1970); The Railway Labor Act, as
amended, 45 U.S.C.A. ch.15 (1970); The Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C.A.
§§201-219 (1970) (including the Equal Pay Act); The Age Discrimination in Employment Act,
as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. ch.14 (1970); The Occupational Safety and Health Act, 29 U.S.C.A.
§§651-678 (1970); and certain aspects of the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C.A. §552
(1970). The article does not include employment discrimination cases rendered pursuant to
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C.A. §§2000e to 2000e-17 (1970).
These cases are treated elsewhere in the survey in the article entitled "Constitutional Civil
Litigation."

2. 29 U.S.C.A. §151 (1970).
3. See NLRB v. Amalgamated Clothing Workers, 430 F.2d 966 (5th Cir. 1970).
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enforcement in twelve (19%), and granted enforcement only in part in
fourteen others (23%).

A. Jurisdiction

In NLRB v. Pope Maintenance Corp.,4 the court held that the Board
correctly assumed jurisdiction over the employer, a Georgia corporation
engaged in the maintenance and repair of aerospace ground equipment for
the United States Air Force. The court determined that the corporation
had sufficient authority over the employment relationship to mandate a
satisfaction of bargaining obligations under the Act. The corporation had
argued that it was not an "employer" within the meaning of the Act be-
cause it was so totally controlled by the Small Business Administration
and the Air Force that it could not engage in meaningful collective bargain-
ing. In addition, the corporation asserted that its operations were govern-
mental in nature and were so intimately related to the mission of the
United States Air Force as to share its statutory exemption.5 The contract
governing the work performed by the corporation was between the Air
Force and the Small Business Administration. The Administration sub-
contracted the entire contract to the corporation.

The court found that there was no restriction imposed on the corpora-
tion's determination of wages or benefits. Although certain minimum stan-
dards were required concerning holiday, vacations, benefits, and wages,
the court noted that these restrictions were minimal and that the corpora-
tion was free to establish its own rates and standards.' Further, evidence
indicated that the corporation determined individual work schedules, di-
rected its employees on a daily basis in the performance of their work, and
controlled the hiring and firing of the employees. The court found these
elements determinative, and enforced the Board's order concerning juris-
diction

B. Proceedings Under Sections 8 and 10: Unfair Labor Practice Cases

Section 8(a)(l)-Actions of Employer as "Interference, Restraint, or
Coercion."' As usual, the court was faced with a large number of cases

4. 573 F.2d 898 (5th Cir. 1978).
5. 29 U.S.C.A. §152(2) (1970) provides that the term "employer" shall not include the

United States.
6. 573 F.2d at 902.
7. Id. at 903, 904.
8. 29 U.S.C.A. §158(a)(1) (1970) provides that it shall be an unfair labor practice for an

employer "to interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights guaran-
teed in section 157 of this title." 29 U.S.C.A. §157 (1970) provides: "Employees shall have
the right to self-organization, to form, join, or assist labor organizations, to bargain collec-
tively through representatives of their own choosing, and to engage in other concerted activi-
ties for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or protection, and shall also

[Vol. 30



LABOR LAW

concerning allegations that employer actions constituted a violation of
§8(a)(1) by interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exer-
cise of their rights under the Act. Although no new standard was developed
by the court in resolving these cases, the court continued to take a careful
look at the circumstances in each case rather than summarily adopt the
Board's findings.

In NLRB v. Mangurian's, Inc.,' the Board found, and the court agreed,
that the company violated §8(a)(1) by promulgating a rule prohibiting
employees from carrying on their union organizing activities while "on the
job," by reprimanding employees for distributing union campaign leaflets,
and by threatening employees that a union victory would by itself cause
the company to go out of business. In agreeing with the Board, the court
found that the company's notice, which was posted several days after the
organizing activity began, and which said "that because of the union's
'campaign to get in here. . . as in all matters which are unrelated to work,
no person will be allowed to carry on union organizing activities on the
job'" constituted a violation of §8(a)(1) as a result of its timing. 0 Although
the company argued that it had removed the notice eight days after it had
been posted and that the notice had never been enforced, the court found
that those factors only mitigated the degree of coercion." The court further
adopted the Board's rejection of the company's affirmative defense that
the union was disqualified from obtaining the Act's protection because it
allegedly discriminated on the basis of sex, race, alienage, and national
origin.' 2 The company relied on the Board's 1977 decision in Handy Andy,
Inc. "13 which reversed Bekin's Moving & Storage Co.," and which held that
the Board would consider union discrimination in an appropriate unfair
labor practice context. The court, however, found that the Board was not
compelled to consider alleged union discrimination in every unfair labor
practice context. 5

In Federal-Mogul Corp. v. NLRB, 6 the court denied enforcement of a
Board ruling that an employer violated §8(a)(1) in the context of a harshly
contested union campaign. The Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) had
found that the employer had violated the Act by coercively interrogating
employees concerning their union sympathies and activities, engaging in

have the right to refrain from any or all of such activities except to the extent that such right
may be affected by an agreement requiring membership in a labor organization as a condition
of employment as authorized in section 158(a)(3) of this title."

9. 566 F.2d 463 (5th Cir. 1978).
10. Id. at 465.
11. Id.
12. Id. at 468.
13. 228 NLRB 447 (1977).
14. 211 NLRB 138 (1974).
15. 566 F.2d at 468.
16. 566 F.2d 1245 (5th Cir. 1978).
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surveillance of union activities, destroying union literature, threatening to
close the plant and lay off employees if they selected the union as their
bargaining agent, and promising better wages if the union lost the election.
The Board adopted these findings, overturned the company's election vic-
tory, and ordered the holding of another election. 7

The court rejected the Board's conclusion that the employer had com-
mitted unlawful interrogation. The court observed that the supervisors
who questioned the employees concerning their union sentiments were on
a first name basis with the employees and that the questioning did not take
place in a coercive atmosphere. Additionally, the court found that the
questions were asked periodically by low-echelon supervisors and foremen
between the early winter of 1973 and spring of 1975. There had been three
separate representation elections conducted during this time period. Thus,
the atmosphere was one of a continuous union campaign with both sides
seeking every possible employee vote."

The court further rejected the Board's finding that the employer had
engaged in unlawful surveillance of union activities or otherwise had vio-
lated §8(a)(1). The court observed that the ALJ committed an error
when he refused to admit into evidence the union's campaign literature
offered by the employer to establish the responsive nature of its own
campaign activity."

In NLRB v. Florida Medical Center, Inc. ,1 the court upheld the Board's
determination that the respondent-hospital's promulgation and enforce-
ment of a no-solicitation rule which applied to hours when an employee
was "paid to work" and to all hospital property, violated §8(a)(1). Fa-
cially, the rule applied to all hospital property during working time as well
as nonworking time such as rest periods and coffee breaks."

The court noted that the recent cases involving no-solicitation rules in
a hospital context had focused upon whether or not union solicitation
should be permitted in areas which are not strictly for patient treatment
but to which patients do have access.2 In this regard the court stated that

17. Id. at 1249.
18. Id. at 1250.
19. Id. at 1254.
20. 576 F.2d 666 (5th Cir. 1978).
21. Generally, a company rule prohibiting union solicitation on company property during

nonworking time is presumed to be an interference with employee organizational rights and
it will be held unlawful unless the employer proves special circumstances making the restric-
tion necessary for the maintenance of production or discipline. See, e.g., Republic Aviation
Corp. v. NLRB, 324 U.S. 793 (1945), and Florida Steel Corp. v. NLRB, 529 F.2d 1225 (5th
Cir. 1976). Furthermore, no curtailment of an employee's right to distribute union litera-
ture on nonworking time in nonworking areas is justifiable without an affirmative showing of
special circumstances, such as maintenance of production or discipline. See, e.g., Patio Foods
v. NLRB, 415 F.2d 1001 (5th Cir. 1969).

22. St. John's Hosp. & School of Nursing, Inc. v. NLRB, 557 F.2d 1368 (10th Cir. 1977);
Beth Israel Hosp. v. NLRB, 437 U.S. 483 (1978). In the Beth Israel Hospital decision, the
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the hospital was free to restrict solicitation through a rule that impinges
employees' organizational rights only insofar as necessary to insure patient
welfare.

Section 8(a)(3)-Actions of Employer Intended to "Encourage or
Discourage" Union Membership.23 In Mosher Steel Co. v. NLRB, "' the
court agreed with the Board that the employer had violated §8(a)(3) of the
Act when it refused to reinstate an unfair labor practice striker for engag-
ing in a fight with a nonstriking employee at a neighborhood bar. The
court, however, disagreed with the Board's determination that the em-
ployer violated the Act by refusing to reinstate two unfair labor practice
strikers as a result of their violent conduct toward nonstriking employees.
One of the striking employees had threatened a nonstriking employee with
physical violence if the nonstriking employee persisted in his attempt to
cross the picket line. The other striking employee had been observed kick-
ing a motorcycle belonging to a nonstriker with considerable damage re-
sulting. Noting that the reinstatement of unfair labor practice strikers
should not be granted where the effect would ratify union retaliation, not
against the employer, but against his fellow workers, the court held that
there was no basis in the record for the finding that these two unfair labor
strikers were discriminatorily terminated in violation of §8(a)(3).25

In NLRB v. Moore Business Forms, Inc. ,26 the court was again faced with
allegations of employer violations of §8(a)(3) during strike circumstances.
The court agreed with the Board's decision that the employer, by discharg-
ing thirty-one strikers allegedly for picket line misconduct, had converted
an economic strike into an unfair labor practice strike and, thus, had
violated §8(a)(3)." Additionally, the court agreed that the employer's ac-
tion of eliminating a long-standing rotating shift system and instituting a
fixed work shift system after commencement of the strike (with a result
that strikers who came back to work earlier would be assigned the more
desirable shift) was unlawful.2 8

With regard to the thirty-one employees who were discharged, the ALJ
had determined that nineteen of the employees had either engaged in some

United States Supreme Court reasoned that in determining whether solicitation is permissi-
ble for areas accessible to patients, the Board must balance the likelihood of disruption of
patient care against the extent of the interference with union organizational activity.

23. 29 U.S.C.A. §158(a)(3) (1970) provides in part that it shall be an unfair labor practice
for an/employer "by discrimination in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any term or
condition of employment to encourage or discourage membership in any labor organiza-
tion..."

24. 568 F.2d 436 (5th Cir. 1978).
25. Id. at 442.
26. 574 F.2d 835 (5th Cir. 1978).
27. Id. at 840.
28. Id. at 841.
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"minor" misconduct insufficient to warrant discharge or had engaged in
no misconduct. For this reason the ALJ decided that they should be rein-
stated. The court found that eight of the nineteen employees had indeed
engaged in misconduct sufficient to warrant discharge, and for this reason
reinstatement was denied. Such conduct consisted of blocking nonstrikers'
cars from crossing the picket line, throwing raw eggs on a nonstriker's
truck, throwing broken glass and nails into the employer's parking area
and otherwise threatening nonstrikers and their families. 2

The court was careful to point out that rarely, if ever, had it been called
upon to review a strike situation in which so much continuing violence
admittedly took place. With a sense of restraint, the court, after conclud-
ing that none of the employees to be reinstated were "Simon-pure," stated
that it does not sit as a fact finding body and may not overturn Board
findings which are supported by substantial evidence in the record as a
whole."

In Merchants Truck Line, Inc. v. NLRB,11 the court again evidenced
restraint with regard to reviewing Board decisions. In this case the court
enforced a Board order finding that the employer violated §8(a)(3) when
it discharged four employees because they signed union authorization
cards. The court, however, noted that the record contained evidence that
would support the conclusion that the employer acted for sound business
reasons in discharging the employees. The employer had laid off five em-
ployee truck drivers as a result of its merger with another carrier. Although
the merger had been long in the planning, the layoffs occurred during the
union's organizing activities. The employee truck drivers who were laid off
were the five most junior employees at the employer's terminal. Four were
known to management to be union sympathizers and the fifth was the son
of a supervisor.

The ALJ determined that the dismissals were justified to effect operat-
ing economies after the employer adopted route changes that made its
freight operation more efficient. As further evidence of the employer's good
faith, the ALJ noted that the selection of discharged employees was based
on seniority and that the discharged employees were given two weeks sev-
erance pay plus their accrued vacation benefits. The employer submitted
further proof that when a fulltime opening occurred following the merger
the job was offered to and accepted by the senior employee discharged.

The Board reversed the ALJ for two reasons. First, the Board found that
the ALJ did not give proper weight to the timing of the discharges during
a union campaign which had already been strenuously opposed by the
employer. Second, the Board determined that the employer's unwilling-

29. Id. at 843-46.
30. Id. at 839, 843.
31. 577 F.2d 1011 (5th Cir. 1978).
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ness to help the discharged employees find work at the employer's other
terminals evidenced the employer's discriminatory motivation.32

The court prefaced its enforcement of the Board's order by stating that
it was limited in reviewing the decisions of the Board, and that such
decisions must be sustained if supported by substantial evidence on the
record considered as a whole, citing Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB.33

Based upon this standard, the timing of the discharges, and the additional
evidence that none of the pro-union employees were permitted transfer to
other jobs within the company, the court reluctantly agreed with the
Board's determination. However, the court indicated its concern for the
Board's decision as follows:

In order to demonstrate discrimination on the facts of this case, the
General Counsel must carry his burden of proving that at least one of the
following factors was not justified by the employer's economic circumstan-
ces: the changes in truck routes; the timing of those changes; the layoff
of any workers; or the layoff of these workers in particular.

As to three of these four elements, the General Counsel has not shown
lack of justification. . ..

Those elements which did not support the Board's decision concerned (1)
the changes in truck routes for greater efficiency, (2) the savings which
resulted from the layoffs, and (3) the fact that the employer chose to
discharge the junior drivers in accord with its policy of not discriminatorily
treating employees in any other respects.3

In NLRB v. Big Three Industrial Gas & Equipment Co., "6 the court
agreed with the Board that the discharging of all thirty-four employees in
the employer's maintenance department and the subcontracting out of
maintenance department work violated §8(a)(3). The court refused to fol-
low its 1977 decision in Johns-Manville Products Corp. v. NLRB,'

3
7 in

which it condoned the wholesale disemployment of a 107-man work force
by an employer who had been racked with weeks of extensive sabotage and
spiralling financial losses. Although the employer in the instant case also
had been faced with acts of sabotage and other misconduct during the
union campaign at its plant, this misconduct was not so severe as to be-
come functionally equivalent to a strike. Additionally, the court found that
the employer had not explored alternatives to the permanent replacement
of its work force. The court indicated that it would have been less suspi-

32. Id. at 1013.
33. 340 U.S. 474 (1951).
34. 577 F.2d at 1015.
35. Id.
36. 579 F.2d 304 (5th Cir. 1978).
37. 577 F.2d 1126 (5th Cir. 1977), cert. denied, - U.S. .. 98 S. Ct. 3069, 57 L. Ed.

2d 1121 (1978).
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cious of the company's real purpose had it not reached the subcontracting
decision so hastily, but instead had explored means for curing its problems
that did not jettison its workers.s

In NLRB v. Florida Steel Corp.,31 the court denied enforcement of a
Board order finding that the employer violated the Act when it discharged
an employee for willfully falsifying his job application in violation of an
established work rule requiring discharge of any worker for such falsifica-
tion. The employee had signed an application of the company for employ-
ment as a crane operator at its Tampa plant. The application had two
parts: the first section showing his personal history; job interest, training,
and.employment history, and the second section containing a health his-
tory report. The employee's answers in both of these sections undisputedly
contained many falsehoods and outright misrepresentations. Additionally,
the employee had not listed several of his prior employers. At the trial
before the ALJ, the employee admitted that he had deliberately and inten-
tionally failed to list all of his employers on his application of employment
because he was afraid that he would not get the job if he did.

The Board had adopted the ALJ's determination that the company had
discharged the employee because of his union activities and thereby vio-
lated §8(a)(3) of the Act. This finding was apparently based upon the fact
that a month prior to the employee's termination the company had gone
through a union election in its Tampa plant. The company had known that
the employee was an avid union supporter.

The court noted several factors which refuted the Board's conclusion
that the company had discriminated against the employee in question.
First, the employee had deliberately and intentionally falsified the com-
pany's job application. According to the court, the fact that the employee
freely admitted his dishonest acts did not make them any less dishonest.
Furthermore, evidence based on the company's personnel files indicated
that the employer's action was consistant with a written company policy
of longstanding and uniform application. Finally, citing its decisions in
NLRB v. Mueller Brass Co. ,,0 and Frosty Morn Meats, Inc. v. NLRB,' the
court also disagreed with the Board's finding that the firing of the em-
ployee was not reasonable and concluded that the reasonableness of the
discharge was for the company to decide, not the Board. The shifting
burden of an 8(a)(3) action was summarized by the court in this way: "In
the case before us, the Company proved that it had good cause to discharge
Basset. When this was done, the burden shifted to the General Counsel to
prove that antiunion animus was the motivating cause of his discharge.' 2

38. 579 F.2d at 315.
39. 586 F.2d 436 (5th Cir. 1978).
40. 509 F.2d 704 (5th Cir. 1975).
41. 296 F.2d 617 (5th Cir. 1961).
42. 586 F.2d at 447.
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Section 8(a)(5)-Employer's Duty to Bargain.43 Two of the cases de-
cided by the court involving an employer's duty to bargain were concerned
with multi-employer bargaining situations. In both cases the court en-
forced the Board's order.

In Ted Hicks and Associates, Inc. v. NLRB," the controversy concerned
the interpretation of a memorandum agreement between the employer and
the union. In 1969 the union had executed an areawide collective bargain-
ing contract with the Associated General Contractors of America, Inc.
(AGC), a multi-employer bargaining group. In May 1974, a new two-year
contract went into effect between the union and the AGC. This new agree-
ment was negotiated pursuant to a provision in the 1969 contract that
provided, in part: "[t]his agreement . . . shall remain in full force and
effect through March 31, 1972, the anniversary date hereof and from year
to year thereafter unless either party, at least ninety (90) days prior to any
anniversary date, notify[sic] the other party of its desire to modify or
terminate same." 5 Although the employer in question was not a member
of the AGC, the employer and the union in October, 1974 signed a memo-
randum agreement stating that both parties would be bound by all provi-
sions of the 1969 collective bargaining contract between the union and the
AGC. This memorandum provided, in part, that "any modifications, ex-
tension, or renewals of the 1969 contract would have the same force and
effect as though the said collective bargaining agreement was set forth
here in full.""6 The employer adhered to the terms of the 1974 agreement,
contributing to the union's welfare, education, and pension funds, from
October, 1974, to May, 1976.

In 1976, the union notified the AGC that it wanted to terminate the
expiring 1974 contract and negotiate a new agreement. In May, 1976, the
union and the AGC executed another collective bargaining contract cover-
ing a subsequent two-year period. The employer refused to comply with
this agreement, and, as a result, the Board held the employer in violation
of §8(a)(5) of the Act. The employer contended that the memorandum
agreement did not bind the company to all future agreements between the
union and the AGC and that it was bound only by the 1974 agreement in
effect at the time the memorandum was signed. The Board determined,
however, that the 1969 contract, which the employer specifically agreed to
follow, was the base contract, and that the 1974 and 1976 agreements were
only modifications of the 1969 agreement.

The court agreed with the Board's finding that the employer violated
§8(a)(5) by refusing to comply with the renegotiated contract. The em-

43. 29 U.S.C.A. §158(a)(5) (1970) provides in part that it shall be an unfair labor practice
for an employer "to refuse to bargain collectively with the representatives of his employees."

44. 572 F.2d 1024 (5th Cir. 1978).
45. Id. at 1025.
46. Id. at 1025-26 n.1 (emphasis added).
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ployer offered no explanation as to why it would sign a memorandum
agreement in 1974, stating that it adhered to a 1969 contract if the 1969
contract had no bearing on the 1974 agreement. The court agreed with the
determination that the 1969 agreement was the base contract, and the 1974
and 1976 agreements were modifications of that base. Thus, the union's
notice to the AGC in 1976 merely signaled an end to the terms in the 1974
contract and not an end to the union's relations with the employer.17

In McAx Sign Co. v. NLRB, 8 the Board found, and the court agreed,
that an employer who had not formally authorized the multi-employer
group to negotiate the collective bargaining contract on its behalf nonethe-
less violated §8(a)(5) when it refused to execute and implement the con-
tract agreed on by the union and the multi-employer group. Prior dealings
of the parties and the employer's course of conduct during contract nego-
tiations amply supported the inference that the employer from the outset
evidenced an "unequivocal intention" to be bound by group rather than
by individual action." Citing its previous decision in NLRB v. Beckham,
Inc. ,5 the court reasoned that the following factors established this
"unequivocal intention": (1) the employer had been a party to three prior
collective bargaining agreements between the union and the "Neon Electr-
ical Sign Companies of Dallas, Texas," (2) the employer and two other
companies signatory to the expiring collective bargaining agreement each
submitted proposals to the union and later collectively attended negotiat-
ing meetings seeking to reach a new agreement; and (3) the employer's
representative commented concerning the bargaining proposals further
indicating the employer's intention to be bound by the group.',

In another case concerning the employer's duty to bargain, Winn-Dixie
Stores v. NLRB,52 the court agreed with the Board that the employer
violated §8(a)(5) by refusing to bargain with the union concerning coverage
of employees under its profit sharing plan. The ALJ had accepted em-
ployer's argument that its plan was a retirement or pension plan similar
to the union's and that it was thus not required to negotiate over simulta-
neous coverage under the two pension plans. The company's plan excluded
"[e]mployees who as a result of collective bargaining have entered into a
written agreement by which Employer agrees to contribute funds for the
benefit of such employees to some form of retirement program.''53

47. Id. at 1026, 1027.
48. 576 F.2d 62 (5th Cir. 1978).
49. Id. at 66.
50. 564 F.2d 190 (5th Cir. 1977); see also Retail Assocs., Inc., 120 NLRB 388 (1958).
51. 576 F.2d at 66, 67. The court noted that the first time the employer took the position

that it was not bound by group action was in response to a complaint filed against it by the
regional office of the Board pursuant to charges filed by the union after the employer refused
to sign the contract.

52. 567 F.2d 1343 (5th Cir.), opinion amended 575 F.2d 1107 (1978).
53. Id. at 1347.
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The Board reversed the ALJ on the grounds that the company's plan was
funded by a percentage of company profits and thus differed from the
standard pension plan under which an employee can be sure that his or
her account will increase by a set amount every year.5" The Board further
found that "even if the company's plan was a pension plan, it included [a]
provision not usually associated with such plans i.e. eligible employees
earning less than $8,500 per year were entitled to receive up to $300 per
year in cash payments." 5 The Board then conluded that "the company's
plan was in part a profit sharing plan providing for annual cash bonuses."' 6

Relying on Kroger Co. v. NLRB,57 it found "that a company cannot exclude
from participation in a profit sharing plan those employees who acquire a
pension plan as a result of collective bargaining." 58

The Fifth Circuit affirmed the Board's finding, also emphasizing that
although there may be no duty to bargain over duplicate benefits, the
company's pension/profit sharing plan in fact differed from the union's
pension plan. Distinguishing the two plans the court noted that the com-
pany plan was funded by contributions directly related to company profits
for a given year, whereas the union plan was funded by fixed contributions.
Secondly, the company's plan was voluntary while the union's plan was
mandatory. Thirdly, under the company plan the employee became eligi-
ble after five years, while under the union plan the employee became
eligible after sixty days. Finally, the court noted that the company plan
provided for cash payments of up to $300 per year, while there were no such
cash payments provided for under the union's pension plan. On the basis
of these factors the court agreed with the Board's finding that the com-
pany's refusal to bargain over the coverage under both plans violated
§8(a)(5) of the Act.5"

In an interesting twist, however, the court refused to affirm the Board's
finding that the company's insistence that eligible employees forfeit their
existing accounts under the company plan violated §8(a)(5) or that the
company's actual forfeiture of these employees' interests violated §8(a) (5).
The court reasoned that the company's bargaining position regarding for-
feiture was not illegal since it did not insist on the proposal in such a way
as to violate its duty to bargain. Instead, the court found that the com-
pany's negotiators included in their contract proposal language which
would provide for the creation of a union pension plan and for forfeiture
of any existing accounts under the company profit sharing plan only in
response to newly asserted union bargaining requests and as part of a

54. Id.
55. Id.
56. Id.
57. 401 F.2d 682 (6th Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 395 U.S. 904 (1969).
58. 567 F.2d at 1347.
59. Id. at 1348.
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package proposal which was accepted by the union. The court refused to
hold that the company's insistence that the union accept a package pro-
posal or else go back to piecemeal negotiations constituted a violation of
the company's duty to bargain in good faith.60

Finally, with regard to remedies, the Board had ordered the company
to reinstate the accounts of those employees who forfeited their interests
as a result of the 1970 bargaining agreement, to establish accounts for those
employees who would otherwise have become eligible for inclusion in the
company plan, to make appropriate annual contributions to these ac-
counts and to pay the employees the annual bonuses of up to $300 which
they otherwise would have received." The court rejected this remedy, rea-
soning that forfeiture of those accounts resulted from the union's accept-
ance of the company's contract proposal, and not from any refusal to
bargain on the part of the company. Additionally, the court said that

even though the company did violate its duty to bargain by refusing to
discuss the possibility of coverage under both the union pension plan and
the company's profit sharing plan, [the court was] unable to enforce that
part of the Board's order which [required] the company to create ac-
counts for those employees who would have become eligible since the 1970
bargaining agreement, to make annual contributions to those accounts
and to pay those employees the annual cash payment of up to $300 to
which they would have been entitled.12

Such a remedy was found to be too speculative and unduly burdensome
on the employer."

One of the most interesting cases in 1978 concerning the employer's duty
to bargain in good faith was Gulf State Manufacturers v. NLRB.6

1 In this
case contract negotiations between the employer and the union extended
from November 21, 1975 to June 15, 1976. During these bargaining sessions
both parties presented proposals and exchanged many counter proposals.
During the middle of the contract negotiations an economic strike oc-
curred, which resulted in the employer hiring replacements and giving all
employees working the same raise in wages it had offered the union, which
was the first wage increase in seventeen months."

60. Id.
61. Id. at 1351.
62. Id.
63. Id.
64. 579 F.2d 1298 (5th Cir. 1978). This decision is also treated in this survey article under

the topic of §10(b) cases, infra.
65. There were approximately seven substantive subject matters on which the parties

could not agree: (1) wage increase-the union wanted 9% "across the board" to each employee
the first year, with 6% each succeeding year, and the company remained firm on schedule
adjustments averaging 5%, 4% and 4% each year, with productivity justifying additional
increases of up to 9% each quarter; (2) dues checkoff-the union wanted a checkoff that would
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Relying upon its decision in "Tomco Communications, Inc.,"6 the Board
found that the company had failed to bargain in good faith and thus was
in violation of §8(a)(5). The Board criticized and rejected the provisions
of the company's proposals and, citing from Tomco, found that no "self-
respecting union" could be expected to accept the company's proposals.,7

The court rejected this finding, emphasizing that the substantive pro-
posals of the company on management rights or any other subject matter
were not proper considerations for the Board. According to the court, the
Board's attitude was biased in favor of the union in an effort to give the
union what it wanted rather than what the parties could agree to. The
court warned that the proper role and function of the Board was to act as
a referee and not to watch over the bargaining process in an attempt to
dictate or guarantee its results."

Additionally, the court reminded the Board that the Court of Appeals
for the Ninth Circuit had reversed Tomco.11 The court stated that it was
significant that the Ninth Circuit had denied enforcement of the Board's
entire decision because the issues in Tomco were almost identical to the
instant case. 0

Finally, the court reiterated the theory of collective bargaining as set out
in NLRB v. American National Insurance Co.7 Here the Supreme Court,
in affirming the Fifth Circuit, held that Congress has made it clear that
the Board may not, "either directly or indirectly, compel concessions or
otherwise sit in judgment upon the substantive terms of the collective
bargaining agreement."" In conclusion, the Fifth Circuit resolved that the

be irrevocable for one year, and the company proposed that employees be allowed to revoke
consistent with the state's right to work law; (3) seniority-the entire article was agreeable
to the union, except for the length of seniority retention. (The union wanted one year and
the company wanted two months.); (4) hours of work-the union wanted daily overtime after
eight hours, and the company retained its position that this was an exceptionally unwise
provision for job shop operation; (5) grievance and arbitration-the union demanded either
the right to strike or compulsory arbitration of all disputes, and the company proposed
voluntary arbitration and the right to strike where arbitration was rejected as a determinant
of the dispute; (6) management rights-the company wanted the right to subcontract work,
change work schedules, impose discipline for just cause, change work rules and to move, sell
or consolidate the plant, and the union objected to subcontracting, unilateral setting of work
schedules and the changing of work rules unless reasonable; (7) Christmas bonuses and
Thanksgiving turkeys-the union wanted the company to be required to pay a Christmas
bonus and to give the employees Thanksgiving turkeys as in the past, and the company
refused to be bound to make such payments and gifts. Id. at 1317.

66. 220 NLRB 636 (1975), rev'd sub nom., NLRB v. Tomco Communications, Inc., 567
F.2d 871 (9th Cir. 1978).

67. 579 F.2d at 1319.
68. Id. at 1321.
69. 567 F.2d 871 (9th Cir. 1978).
70. 579 F.2d at 1319.
71. 343 U.S. 395 (1952).
72. 579 F.2d at 1322.
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two parties had merely entered into hard bargaining, using every economic
weapon and pressure available to them at the bargaining table.7"

It is settled that unless special circumstances exist, a union's majority
status, once established by a valid election or by voluntary recognition, is
irrebuttably presumed for a period of one year following the Board's certifi-
cation of the union." After the expiration of the certification year, the
presumption of the union's continuing majority support continues but be-
comes rebuttable." A good faith doubt of the union's majority status is a
defense to a refusal to bargain charge based on the withdrawal 9 f recogni-
tion. In two of the 1978 cases the court was required to employ the
"objective evidence" test to determine whether employers had a good faith
doubt of the union's majority status.

In J. Ray McDermott & Co. v. NLRB,78 the court enforced a Board ruling
that the employer violated §8(a)(5) when it refused to bargain with the
Board-certified union, despite the employer's alleged doubt of the union's
majority status, which was based on (1) the turnover of its personnel,
including departure of four persons who had voted for the union, and (2)
the union's alleged failure to demonstrate organizational strength in re-
sponse to the employer's recalcitrance." The court rejected the employer's
arguments that a reasonable doubt of the union's majority status existed
and reasoned that the kind of "objective evidence" ordinarily sufficient to
overcome a rebuttable presumption of majority support would be a greater
than fifty percent employee support for a decertification petition, or thirty
percent support for decertification combined with other indicia of nonsup-
port. 8 The court did not take into consideration the fact that one year had
passed during which the union had gone through internal union changes
and no bargaining had taken place, and the closeness of the representation
election won by the union (thirty-nine votes were cast for the union, thirty-
six votes were cast against the union, and three ballots were lost in the
mail).

In NLRB v. Randle-Eastern Ambulance Service, Inc.,T9 the court held
that the Board was not warranted in finding the employer in violation of
§8(a)(5) when the employer withdrew recognition from the union after a
strike. The court found that the presumption of majority status was
"sufficiently undermined by objective evidence to support a reasonable

73. Id. at 1326.
74. See Brooks v. NLRB, 348 U.S. 96 (1954) and NLRB v. Physicians & Surgeons Com-

munity Hosp., 577 F.2d 305 (5th Cir. 1978).
75. See NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co., 395 U.S. 575 (1969) and NLRB v. Gulfmont Hotel,

362 F.2d 588 (5th Cir. 1966).
76. 571 F.2d 850 (5th Cir. 1978).
77. Id. at 852, 858.
78. Id. at 859.
79. 584 F.2d 720 (5th Cir. 1978).
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doubt of continued majority status." 8 It observed, among other things,
that at the commencement of the economic strike the bargaining unit
numbered 177, of whom 166 joined the strike. Three months later, however,
the company was possessed of three items of objective evidence that, con-
sidered collectively, supported its doubt of the union's continued majority
status. First, only forty-six of the original strikers had returned to work,
and ten had requested reinstatement and were on a preferential hiring list.
Although the court noted that the Board was correct in relying on the
principle that an employee returning to work during a strike does not in
itself provide a reasonable basis for presuming that he has repudiated the
union as his bargaining representative, it noted that the company had
received copies of union resignation letters from nineteen of the returning
strikers and had received information that other reinstatements had also
resigned from the union. The court reasoned that although nonmember-
ship alone does not necessarily indicate nonsupport for the bargaining
representative, resignation after crossing the picket line in a fairly violent
strike does.

The second item of objective evidence concerned the fact that the com-
pany had hired forty-seven permanent replacements, of whom six had
indicated disinterest in the union or had been the victims of picket line
violence. The final element of objective evidence concerned the fact that
the company had been informed by a union representative that twenty-five
to fifty percent of the strikers would not be returning to work. Here again,
although the court recognized the principle that economic strikers must be
considered as part of the employer's work force in determining the union's
support, it reasoned that the union representative's admission permitted
the company to eliminate one-fourth to one-half of the striking employees
when calculating the union's support.

In conclusion, the court stated that the company need not have conclu-
sive proof that a majority of employees did not support the union. It rea-
soned that since proof of lack of majority status cannot be acquired by the
employer via an employee poll, permissible inferences from solid evidence
such as the number of returning strikers, the number of union resignations,
the number of replacements, and the union representatives' remarks, are
sufficient to support a reasonable doubt of the union's continued majority
status.

8'

Section 8(b)(l)-Actions of Union as Restraint or Coercion. Sec-
tion' 8(b)(1)(A) of the Act makes it an unfair labor practice for a labor
organization to restrict or coerce employees in the exercise of rights pro-
tected by the Act." In NLRB v. Local 725, Plumbers,8 3 the court enforced

80. Id. at 728-29.
81. Id. at 729.
82. 29 U.S.C.A. §158(b)(1)(A) (1970).
83. 572 F.2d 550 (5th Cir. 1978).
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a Board order determining that Local 725 violated §8(b)(1)(A) by refusing
to refer a certain union member for a supervisory foreman position, even
though the union member, as an expectant foreman, was not a statutory
employee.

The dispute arose when the company, a construction contractor, asked
the union hiring hall to refer a certain unemployed union member to fill a
foreman's position. This unemployed union member had never worked as
a foreman, and for this apparent reason the union business agent opposed
the company's request. Instead, the business agent demanded that the
company consider other unemployed union members who had foreman
experience. The union and the company were parties to a nationwide
collective bargaining agreement which required that the employer use the
union hiring hall to obtain workers.14 Although the union later recognized
and acknowledged the company's right to select a forman regardless of the
union's judgment of the foreman's relative qualifications, there was evi-
dence that the union's business agent had threatened the unemployed
union member with future denials of job referrals if he got the foreman
job.85

The court noted that had the refusal been to refer the unemployed mem-
ber for an employee position within the coverage of the Act coupled with
the threat against him if he complained, an appropriate Board order would
have been enforced upon the court's summary calendar without opinion
under Local Rule 21 practice. The court, however, recognized that a closer
examination of the case was justified since the referral was sought for a
supervisory position." The union had contended that neither an unfair
labor practice charge nor a backpay award could be sustained on a refusal
to refer a union member to a foreman's (supervisor's) job.

The court agreed with the Board's reasoning that §8(b)(1)(A) prohibits
a union from wrongfully exerting control over the hiring of supervisors
when the union's actions have an impact on those who are statutory em-
ployees.87 In so doing, the court recognized a shift in the Board's previously
established position that because "the Board had no jurisdiction over su-
pervisors, and employers could use the hiring of supervisors to discourage
union membership, a union did not [violate] §8(b)(2) by forcing an em-
ployer to hire pro-union supervisors. " The court carefully pointed out

84. The collective bargaining agreement provided that the selection of four men (supervi-
sors under the Act) was entirely the responsibility of the employer and that the employer
would give primary consideration to the qualified men available in the local area.

85. 572 F.2d at 550-51.
86. Id. at 552.
87. Id.
88. Id., citing Pacific Am. Ship Owners Ass'n, 98 NLRB 582 (1952). Section 8(b)(2), 29

U.S.C.A. §158(b)(2) (1970), provides that it shall be an unfair labor practice for a labor
organization or its agents "to cause or attemptto cause an employer to discriminate against
an employee in violation of subsection (a)(3) or to discriminate against an employee with
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that this unemployed union member was more than just a supervisor; he
was also an employee whose future organizational rights fell within the
scope of the Board's jurisdictional embrace.8'

Additionally, the court agreed with the Board's finding that "because
workers in the construction industry frequently cycle in and out of supervi-
sory jobs, discrimination against the union member in the instant case in
his attempt to become a supervisor would carry over to intimidate him
once he again became a statutory employee.' 0 Finally, the court affirmed
the Board's remedial order requiring the union to pay the member in
question backpay based on wages that he could have earned as a supervi-
sor."

In NLRB v. International Brotherhood of Boilermakers,'2 the court (with
Judge Vance dissenting) refused to enforce a Board order which found that
the union had violated §8(b)(1)(A). The union had removed one of its
members from his position of union steward because of his failure to pursue
his discharge grievance under the collective bargaining contract before
filing an unfair labor practice charge with the Board. The court distin-
guished the facts of this case from NLRB v. Industrial Union of Marine &
Shipbuilding Workers of America.' 3 In Marine Workers, the Supreme
Court "held that a union could not dismiss from membership a member
who violated a union rule that required him to exhaust intra-union reme-
dies for grievances against the union before resorting to tribunals outside
the union for relief."" According to the Fifth Circuit, the holding in Marine
Workers signaled a recognition of the need for free access to the Board.

In reviewing the Board's decision in International Brotherhood of
Boilermakers, the court reasoned that the union's internal policy of requir-
ing union leadership to utilize the contractually agreed upon grievance-
arbitration procedure prior to invoking the Board's jurisdiction was an
overriding justification for the sanction even though such a sanction dis-
couraged immediate access to the Board. The court emphasized that this
contractual grievance procedure is considered to be a major factor in
achieving industrial peace and that the union's sanction was merely an
attempt to discourage the disregard of this process by its own spokesman.
The court also noted that the union management was justified in conclud-
ing that its credibility as a bargaining agent would be furthered by its

respect to whom membership in such organization has been denied or terminated on some
ground other than his failure to tender the periodic dues and the initiation fees uniformly
required as a condition of acquiring and retaining membership."

89. 572 F.2d at 553.
90. Id. at 552.
91. Id. at 553.
92. 581 F.2d 473 (5th Cir. 1978).
93. 391 U.S. 418 (1968).
94. 581 F.2d at 476.
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officials' adherence to the negotiated processes . 5

The court's decision could have the unfortunate result of seriously
impeding the free access to the Board not only with regard to charges
against an employer but also those against a union. Giving the union the
privilege of determining when the Board processes may be used by decid-
ing when it has a right to control its internal affairs places a heavy and
questionable amount of control in the union's hands.

Section 10(b)-Limitations Period on Bringing Unfair Labor Prac-
tice Cases. During 1978 the court reviewed two Board decisions in which
§10(b)1 of the Act was a major issue. Section 10(b) bars claims occurring
more than six months prior to the filing of the unfair labor practice charge
with the Board and the service of a copy of the charge upon the person
against whom such charge is made.

In NLRB v. Auto Warehousers, Inc.," the court denied enforcement of
a Board order finding that the union had violated §8(b)(1)(A) and (2) and
that the company had violated §8(a)(1) and (3) by enforcing and maintain-
ing a provision in their collective bargaining agreement that allowed shop
stewards to be granted superseniority extending to terms and conditions
of employment beyond layoff and recall. The court determined that no
event constituting an unfair labor practice occurred within six months of
the filing of the unfair labor practice charge and that therefore the Board's
action was time barred."

In April, 1975, a shop steward requested that he be granted supersenior-
ity pursuant to a provision in the collective bargaining agreement.", The
company granted his request and the steward thereupon took top place on
the seniority roster. During this same month the steward used his seniority
status to obtain a newly created job as service station attendant. During
the annual posting and bidding for all jobs the following August, the stew-
ard bid on and received the same position by virtue of his superseniority.
Thereafter, unfair labor practice charges were filed in January, 1976. The
union and the company contended that the unfair labor practice charges
were time barred by the limitation period in §10(b). They argued that the
execution of the collective bargaining agreement, the steward's request for
superseniority, the grant of superseniority, and the steward's initial bid for
his present position all took place outside §10(b).100

The ALJ found and the Board agreed that the charges were not time

95. Id. at 476, 477.
96. 29 U.S.C.A. §160(b) (1970).
97. 571 F.2d 860 (5th Cir. 1978).
98. Id. at 861.
99. The collective bargaining agreement provided there could be one steward at each of

the company's terminals and that such steward would be granted superseniority for all pur-
poses, including layoffs, recalls, biddings and job preferences. Id. at 862.

100. Id.
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barred. In essence, this determination was based upon two theories. First,
since the superseniority clause was on its face unlawful, the maintenance
of the clause alone constituted a continuing unfair labor practice which
§10(b) did not bar."' Secondly, even if the contract clause was not per se
unlawful, the steward's rebidding constituted an event independent of the
initial enforcement of the contract and was thus within the §10(b) period.

With regard to the second position, the court reasoned that the rebidding
did not constitute an unfair labor practice separate from the steward's
acquisition of the superseniority status because the alleged unlawfulness
depended upon past events. To determine whether the steward's rebidding
violated the Act would require a determination of whether a business justi-
fication initially existed for the award of superseniority under the collective
bargaining agreement. Since the superseniority provision in the agreement
was suspect, the conditions under which the steward was awarded his
superseniority status were the key factors in determining whether an unfair
labor practice had occurred.'0

Also of particular interest in the court's assessment of the § 10(b) defense
was its emphasis on the purposes of the section. The court recognized that
if the position espoused by the Board was accepted, it would have allowed
the bringing of an unfair labor practice charge based upon granting super-
seniority to the steward at any time during the term of the contract. Ac-
cording to the court, this would "leave the union and employer both uncer-
tain of their liabilities and saddled with the burden of making a defense
that would increase in difficulty with the petitioners' delay."''

In Gulf State Manufacturers v. NLRB,' °0 the court was required to deter-
mine whether the employer could be found in violation of the Act on the
basis of charges that previously had been withdrawn with prejudice by the
union in a settlement agreement approved by the Board's Regional Direc-
tor. Pursuant to the terms of the settlement agreement, the union with-
drew two unfair labor practice charges and the company withdrew all
objections and exceptions to the election which the union won. The quid
pro quo of the agreement was the certification of the union as the employ-
ees' bargaining representative. 5

Following the settlement agreement the union filed additional unfair
labor practice charges in which it attempted to reinstate some of the with-
drawn charges. The only new charge in this filing was an allegation that
the company had failed and refused to bargain in good faith with the
union.' ° The Board issued a complaint against the company consolidating

101. Id. at 863-64.
102. Id. at 864.
103. Id. at 865.
104. 579 F.2d 1298 (5th Cir. 1978).
105. Id. at 1305.
106. Id.
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all of the charges including those previously withdrawn with prejudice by
the union. The company moved to strike the withdrawn charges on the
ground of the approved settlement agreement and on the ground that the
Board could not reinstate them because they were barred by the six-month
statute of limitations.

Although the ALJ concluded that the reinstatement of the withdrawn
charges was improper because of the statute of limitations and because
there were no equitable considerations in the case to warrant a circumven-
tion of the statutory limitations period, he nevertheless allowed the rein-
statement of the withdrawn charges on the basis that the newly filed
charge (filed within the limitations period) was broad enough to allow the
Board to include the withdrawn charges in its amended complaint. The
Board adopted the ALJ's determination. Apparently, neither the ALJ nor
the Board felt any compulsion, legal or equitable, to enforce the parties'
settlement agreement.

The court rejected the ALJ's and Board's reasoning, finding that the
union, since it had withdrawn its charges with prejudice, could not and did
not reinstate the charge by filing the subsequent charges. It emphasized
that no "catch-all" phrase on the subsequently filed charge form could be
used to include the withdrawn charges.'07

Since the union could not reinstate the charges, the court looked upon
the Board's actions as an attempt to become the charging party and thus
as contrary to the plain provisions of the Act. Aside from this legal impedi-
ment, the Board, according to the court, was "legally and morally bound
by the withdrawal arrangement, because it approved the agreement,
through its duly authorized Regional Director, who acted within the scope
of his authority.""'

Not only did the Board's actions smack of its latent refusal to accept or
comply with §10(b), but the court also noted that the Board had violated
its own rules and regulations as prescribed in the Case Handling Manual.'"
It noted that had the Board complied with its own rules it would have been
required to refile or reopen the allegations as new charges, and in that case
§10(b) would have barred them."'

C. Proceedings Under Section 9: Representation Cases

As usual, the cases reviewed by the court concerning representation

107. Id. at 1306.
108. Id. at 1306-07.
109. Id. at 1308, quoting NLRB Case Handling Manual §10120.5 (1975). This section

provides: "A closing of a C case pursuant to a withdrawal request constitutes a disposition
of the issues without prejudice; however, the 10(b) period will apply with respect to any
refiling of the same allegations. The matter, if reopened, should be considered and handled
as a new charge."

110. 579 F.2d at 1308.
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questions arose in the context of alleged violations on the part of the
employer of §8(a)(5), and concerned issues of election conduct and election
procedure.

In NLRB v. Gulf State Canners,"' the court refused to enforce the
Board's decision that the union had not engaged in illegal campaign activi-
ties, and that the employer had unlawfully refused to bargain with the
union. The company had filed timely objections to the conduct of the
union after the union won an election by a vote of twenty to sixteen. The
company claimed that certain payments by the union to company employ-
ees vitiated the election results. Prior to the election, the union had pro-
vided approximately $24.00 worth of gasoline to one of the company's
employees in the voting unit and $6.88 worth of gasoline to another. The
union claimed that the purchases of gasoline were merely to compensate
for fuel consumed in traveling to union meetings. The Board adopted the
Regional Director's conclusion that the election results must stand unless
the company could show that the union in making the gifts, "intended to
influence the outcome of the election.""12

In rejecting the "intended to influence" standard, the court emphasized
that unlawful acts will taint an election if those acts interfered with the
employees' exercise of free choice to such an extent that they materially
affected the results of an election. The court said that in determining
whether an election should be invalidated, the focus should be on the
effects of a .particular act on the electorate rather than on the actor's
intent."' The court reasoned that the Board

should seek to find whether the questioned action by an election candidate
had a tendency to influence the outcome of the voting. The tendency-to-
influence test requires an examination of the challenged action in light of
all the relevant facts, the number of employees receiving the benefit, the
views of the employees concerning the purposes of the payments, and the
timing of the payments." '

Based upon the court's findings that the Board applied the wrong stan-
dard, the case was remanded to the Board for further consideration.

In NLRB v. Claxton Poultry Co.," 5 the court agreed with the Board's
determination that the employer's objections to the representation election
were meritless and that the company was guilty of violating §8(a)(5) by
refusing to bargain with the certified union. In this case the union filed the
representation petition on December 17, 1974. One of the employer's objec-
tions concerned alleged threats by the union of economic reprisal to voters

111. 585 F.2d 757 (5th Cir. 1978).
112. Id. at 759.
113. Id.
114. Id.
115. 581 F.2d 1133 (5th Cir. 1978).
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if they did not support the union. These threats allegedly occurred in
November, 1974, and early December, 1974, prior to the filing of the repre-
sentation petition. The court agreed with the Board's refusal to recognize
this objection, since it concerned conduct allegedly occurring prior to the
filing of the representation petition."6

Furthermore, the court agreed with the Board's finding that the record
evidence reflected that the threats and misrepresentations allegedly com-
mitted by the union subsequent to the filing of the representation petition
were either recognizable as misrepresentations by the voters or neutralized
by the employer's own statements."7

Two of the representation cases reviewed by the court concerned the
issue of the validity of secret ballot elections which were won by the unions
by the barest of margins and which were allegedly tainted by election
procedures. In NLRB v. W.R. Grace & Co.," 8 the court agreed with the
Board's decision that the company's objections to the conduct of the elec -

tion were meritless. The case arose out of the company's objection to the
Board agent's failure to investigate the voter eligibility status of one of the
company's employees, and the apparent failure on the part of the agent to
offer the employee an opportunity to cast a challenged ballot; the union
won the election by a margin of five to four. The facts revealed that the
employee's name was left off the list of eligible voters by the company's
plant manager. On the day of the election, the employee appeared at the
polling place, assuming that he was eligible to vote. Although the employee
had been temporarily filling a supervisory job until a new supervisor could
be trained, there was little dispute that the employee was actually a mem-
ber of the maintenance bargaining unit. The Board agent conducting the
election told the employee that his name was not on the eligibility list and
asked the employee why he thought he was eligible to vote. The employee
responded that he thought he was eligible since everybody else was voting.
The employee then left the area.

Although the ALJ determined that the employee was eligible to vote
since he was serving only temporarily as a supervisor and, thus, ordered a
new election, the Board rejected the ALJ's determination. The Board and
the court agreed that the agent's conduct was not improper, and that the
employee voluntarily failed to exercise his right to vote. '",

The Board's refusal to place the blame on the Board agent, however,
appears shallow. It should have been the Board agent's duty to question
fully any employee who shows up to vote on the day of the election. In a
unit where only nine employees actually voted, the duties and responsibili-

116. See NLRB v. Golden Age Beverage Co., 415 F.2d 26 (5th Cir. 1969) and Ideal Elec.
& Mfg. Co., 134 NLRB 1275 (1961).

117. 581 F.2d at 1136.
118. 571 F.2d 279 (5th Cir. 1978).
119. Id. at 282.
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ties of the Board agent were minimal. Furthermore, it would appear that
the purposes of the Act would have been best served by the holding of
another secret ballot election and thereby determining the true wishes of
all employees involved.

In NLRB v. Flowers Baking Co., 10 the court declined to enforce a Board
bargaining order against an employer who refused to bargain with the
union after the representation election because of the participation of an
employee who allegedly was unqualified to vote. In an interesting and
perhaps farreaching decision, the court limited the Board's 1958 decision
in Norris- Thermador Corp.'2 1

As is Common, prior to the secret ballot election the employer prepared
a list of eligible voters, often referred to as the Excelsior list. '22 This list,
as forwarded to the Board's Regional Director, contained the names of
twelve employees. Although the Board had scheduled a unit determination
hearing, this hearing was called off when the Board agent informed the
company, via telephone, that the union had accepted the list and that the
unit determination hearing was unnecessary.

The eligible voters list did not contain the name of Virginia Mashburn.
Thus, when Mashburn appeared at the plant and attempted to vote, she
initially was denied a ballot. The Board agent ultimately allowed her to
cast a challenged ballot, and the Regional Director later counted Mash-
burn's vote after determining that her name had been mistakenly omitted.
As a result of Mashburn's vote the union won the election.' 2'

The court accepted the employer's reliance upon the Board's 1958 deci-
sion in Norris-Thermador and the recent exception to that case by the
Board in Banner Bedding, Inc.' 4 In Norris- Thermador the Board ruled
that when the parties enter into a written agreement expressly resolving
the eligibility issue, the Board will consider the agreement final and bind-
ing, unless the agreement is, in whole or in part, contrary to the National
Labor Relations Act or established Board policy. 25 In Banner Bedding,
Inc., the Board held "that an oral eligibility agreement will be considered
binding if made in the presence of a Board agent, provided that its exist-
ence and terms are undisputed by the parties."'' 6

The court in Flowers Baking Co. reasoned that it attached no import-
ance to the absence of a personal meeting between the parties in the
presence of the Board agent. It considered two factors in deciding that the
eligibility list was binding on the parties. First, the court reasoned that it

120. 578 F.2d 1145 (5th Cir. 1978).
121. 119 NLRB 1301 (1958).
122. See Excelsior Underwear, Inc., 156 NLRB 1236 (1966).
123. 578 F.2d at 1146.
124. 214 NLRB 1012 (1974).
125. 578 F.2d at 1146.
126. Id. at 1147.
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was probable that neither party considered Mashburn an employee, since
the union's own petition for election defined the bargaining unit to include
twelve employees rather than thirteen employees. Second, given the size
of the unit, the court questioned whether the union could have simply
overlooked Mashburn. The court concluded that the list should still be
upheld even if the union had overlooked Mashburn.'27

Although the court stated in dictum that it did not approve of the
practice of settling voter eligibility in this way, and that written agree-
ments are obviously preferable to such loose procedures, the precedential
value of Flowers Baking Co. may be farreaching. As such, the voter eligibil-
ity list could take on an entirely different role in the election procedure.

D. Cases Under Sections 301 and 302: Fair Representation Suits

Injunction Cases Under Section 301. In Jacksonville Maritime Asso-
ciation v. ILA, '2 the court declined to accept the union-appellant's invita-
tion to place additional limitations on an employer's right to seek a Boys
Markets' injunction for a union's violation of a no-strike clause. The case
arose out of a labor dispute between two Jacksonville, Florida employers
and the ILA. One of the companies requested the ILA hiring hall to send
two employees for a job the following day. Instead, the union sent three
employees. Acting under orders from the local's president, the men refused
to work unless all three were hired. In a similar situation, the other com-
pany ordered six men from the hiring hall, and the union sent eight. Al-
though this employer hired all eight men, the men would only perform
work in their specific job title. In other words, a forklift operator would only
operate a forklift, and refused to do general warehouse work. In both cases,
the employers sent the men back to the union hall.

After the same scenario was repeated several times, the employers
sought and obtained an injunction against the union for violation of the
no-strike clause in their collective bargaining agreement. In affirming the
district court's decision, the Fifth Circuit reiterated that, in addition to the
traditional equitable prerequisites for issuance of an injunction, a labor
injunction under Boys Markets requires the following three prerequisites:
"(1) The strike must be in breach of a no-strike obligation under an effec-
tive collective bargaining agreement; (2) The strike must be over an arbitr-
able grievance; (3) Both parties must be contractually bound to arbitrate
the underlying grievance caused by the strike."'30

The ILA argued that not only must the subject matter of the dispute be
arbitrable, but also that the employer seeking the injunction must have

127. Id.
128. 571 F.2d 319 (5th Cir. 1978).
129. See Boys Mkts., Inc. v. Retail Clerks Union Local 770, 398 U.S. 235 (1970).
130. 571 F.2d at 323.
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alleged and proven its willingness to arbitrate. The court found the union's
argument counter to both the literal language of the Boys Markets decision
and the national policy favoring arbitration as set forth in the Steelworkers
Trilogy.'3'

Review of Arbitration Awards Under Section 301. In its only en banc
decision of the year, the court, in General Warehousemen and Helpers
Local 767 v. Standard Brands, Inc., 2 reversed its earlier panel decision,""'
and affirmed a district court decision which had denied enforcement of' an
arbitration award. The case arose out of a highly unusual set of circum-
stances,' which no doubt contributed to the court's divergence of opinion
in the case. Standard Brands manufactured margarine at a plant in Dallas,
Texas, where its employees were represented by the Teamsters. On Nov-
ember 1, 1974, the company opened a new plant at Denison, Texas. (some
seventy-five miles away). Despite the company's assurances that it had no
intention of closing the Dallas plant, the Teamsters demanded that the
Dallas employees be given transfer rights to the Denison facility. When
Standard declined this request, the Teamsters filed a grievance under the
contract. The dispute went to arbitration, where the parties selected a
well-known labor arbitrator, Professor Charles J. Morris.

Union activities at the Denison plant, however, complicated an arbitra-
tion remedy. The International Association of Machinists (IAM), organiz-
ing at the new Denison plant, won a union election and were certified by
the NLRB on May 22, 1975, as the exclusive bargaining agent for the
Denison employees. Professor Morris held two formal arbitration hearings,
and took extensive evidence, including a Standards letter dated Septem-
ber 2, 1975, announcing the closing of the Dallas plant one month later.
On the basis of these facts, the arbitrator ruled that Standard had discrim-
inated against its Dallas employees because of their union membership. In
an attempt to balance the rights of the Dallas employees against those of
the Denison employees, Morris ordered the company to allow all Dallas
employees (who wished to do so) to transfer to the Denison plant, but
without displacing any of the Denison employees. Further, the transferees
were to be given superseniority, i.e., seniority based upon the date the
Denison plant opened rather than the date of the employee's transfer. "

After Standard failed to comply with the award, the Teamsters sought
enforcement in federal district court. The district court concluded that the
arbitrator's award conflicted with the NLRB's certification of the IAM at

131. See Steelworkers v. American Mfg. Co., 363 U.S. 564 (1960); Steelworkers v. Warrior
& Gulf Navigation Co., 363 U.S. 574 (1960); and Steelworkers v. Enterprise Wheel & Car
Corp., 363 U.S. 593 (1960).

132. 579 F.2d 1282 (5th Cir. 1978).
133. 560 F.2d 700 (5th Cir. 1977).
134. 579 F.2d at 1287.
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the Denison facility, and refused to enforce the award. A divided Fifth
Circuit panel reversed the district court.'35

On rehearing en banc, the Fifth Circuit reversed the panel's decision and
agreed with the district court. The court concluded that to direct the
employer to comply with the award would be, in essence, to order the
company to commit an unfair labor practice in violation of §8(a)(3) of the
Labor-Management Relations Act. The transferring Dallas employees
would have become senior to the Denison employees, causing the Denison
employees to suffer a decrease in wages and benefits while still performing
the same work. The court found the right of Denison employees to bargain
collectively to be "at the heart of our federal labor policy governing labor
management relations."' 36 Although the court found that the arbitration
award did "draw its essence" from the Teamsters collective bargaining
agreement (the traditional standard of review for arbitration awards under
the Steelworkers Trilogy), the court nonetheless considered the award, in
the peculiar circumstances of this case, to be "repugnant" to the overriding
statutory policy of the NLRA. 31

Remaining sensitive to the plight of the transferring Dallas employees
(who suddenly found themselves without a job), the court remanded the
case to the arbitrator for a reformulation of his award in terms of monetary
damages. Although it is difficult to quarrel with the ultimate result ob-
tained by the court in light of the peculiar circumstances presented in this
case, the case is yet another example of the old maxim that "hard cases
make bad law." One can only speculate as to the number of future arbitra-
tion awards which will find themselves subject to attack in a subsequent
court proceeding pursuant to an argument that they are somehow
"repugnant" to an overriding statutory policy of the Act. Whether this
approach is consistent with the national labor policy favoring arbitration
as expressed in both the Act and the Steelworkers Trilogy is questionable.

Cases Under Section 302. In Mobile Mechanical Contractors Associa-
tion v. Carlough,'3 8 the court clarified its previous decision in Costello v.
Lipsitz,'13 by holding that §302(e)'" ° of the Act confers jurisdiction on a
district court to enter a declaratory judgment only where the relief sought
would prevent an existing violation of the Act from continuing in the
future, and not where the relief sought would involve only past issues.

135. Id. at 1284.
136. Id. at 1293.
137. Id.
138. 566 F.2d 1213 (5th Cir. 1978).
139. 547 F.2d 1267 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 829 (1977).
140. 29 U.S.C.A. §186(e) (1970).
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H. RAILWAY LABOR ACT

The court was confronted with only two cases in 1978 that concerned an
interpretation of the Railway Labor Act.' Both involved the application
of well-established principles. In Marden v. ]AM, 142 an employee brought
suit under the Act against both National Air Lines and the IAM, contend-
ing that his employment was unlawfully conditioned upon union member-
ship, and seeking reimbursement of all fees paid the union. Shortly after
the employee was hired by National, the company furnished him with a
Notice of Union Membership Requirement, stating that he was required
to join the union within sixty days of his date of hire. The plaintiff claimed
that because of this notice he was "essentially hoodwinked" into joining
the union."3 Although the district court agreed that the notice was unlaw-
ful, it upheld the collective bargaining agreement, finding that it required
only the payment of union fees rather than union membership. Conse-
quently plaintiffs claim for reimbursement of dues, fees, and assessments
was denied. In affirming the district court, the Fifth Circuit agreed that
the collective bargaining agreement only required the payment of union
fees (i.e., an agency shop arrangement) rather than union membership,
and hence, was permissible under well-established precedent. 144

In Eastern Air Lines, Inc. v. Transport Workers Union Local 553," 5 the
court held that a district court overstepped its bounds in setting aside an
arbitration award rendered by the Eastern-TWU System Board of Adjust-
ment. The court reiterated that such an award may be set aside only on
one of the following three grounds: (1) failure of the Board to comply with
the Act; (2) fraud or corruption; or (3) failure of the order to conform or
confine itself to matters within the Board's jurisdiction. "6 Finding that the
award in question could not be set aside under this strict standard of
review, and that the award, although vague, was not "without foundation
in reason or fact," the court reversed the district court and reinstated the
award. '

III. FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT

A. Wage-Hour Cases

The only traditional wage-hour dispute resolved by the court pursuant
to the Fair Labor Standards Act 18 involved an interpretation of the laun-

141. 45 U.S.C.A. ch.15 (1970).
142. 576 F.2d 576 (5th Cir. 1978).
143. Id.
144. Id. at 580.
145. 580 F.2d 169 (5th Cir. 1978).
146. Id. at 172.
147. Id. at 173.
148. 29 U.S.C.A. §201 (1970).
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dering activities exception to the retail or service establishment exemption
set forth in §13(a)(2)" 9 of the Act. In Gossett v. Du-Ra-Kel Corp.,5 " the
court held that individual employees who perform cleaning, laundering,
and general upkeep duties for a motel fell within the scope of this exception
and were not exempt under §13(a)(2) from the minimum wage require-
ments of the Act. The district court had granted the defendant's motion
for summary judgment on the ground that the legislative history of this
statutory provision revealed that the laundering exception was meant to
apply only to employees working in laundering establishments. 5 Although
the court acknowledged that Congress was primarily concerned with em-
ployees of laundry establishments in creating the "laundering exception,"
it nonetheless concluded that by use of the phrase "establishment or em-
ployee," Congress also meant to include individual employees (such as
plaintiffs) engaged in laundering activities but at nonlaundering establish-
ments.' 2

B. Equal Pay Act

In Sinyard v. Foote & Davies Division of McCall Corp.,'"' the court
considered the potential liability of an international union for alleged sex
discrimination under the Equal Pay Act.5 4 The original complaint had
been brought against plaintiffs' employer, the local union, and the Interna-
tional Brotherhood of Bookbinders, pursuant to both the Equal Pay Act
and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.1 5 The district court allowed
the international union to escape liability on summary judgment. In af-
firming this decision, the Fifth Circuit refused to impose a blanket affirma-
tive duty on international unions to police their locals in order to assure
nondiscrimination. The court, in essence, concluded that the question of
international union liability should be determined on an ad hoc basis,
depending upon the closeness of the relationship between the international
and its local, and upon the amount and type of involvement of the interna-
tional with the discriminatory collective bargaining agreement. In this
case, since the international neither approved nor was a signatory to the

149. 29 U.S.C.A. §213(a)(2) (1970).
150. 569 F.2d 869 (5th Cir. 1978).
151. Id. at 873.
152. Id. at 873-74. The court was also influenced in its decision, by a 1970 opinion of the

Wage and Hour Administrator which stated that the laundering activities exception applied
to individual employees engaged in laundering in motels and hotels. The court found this
opinion, although not binding, "entitled to great weight." Id. at 874.

153. 577 F.2d 943 (5th Cir. 1978).
154. 29 U.S.C.A. §206(d) (1970).
155. 42 U.S.C.A. §2000e (1970). The Title VII aspects of this case are not discussed here

since employment discrimination cases pursuant to this statute are discussed elsewhere in
the "Constitutional Civil Litigation" article. See note 1, supra.
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collective bargaining agreement in question, and did not participate in the
contract negotiations, the court agreed that there was not a "sufficient
connection" between the international and the discriminatory provisions
of the collective bargaining agreement.

IV. AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT

Consistent with what seems to be a national trend, the Fifth Circuit was
confronted with a significantly increased number of cases under the Age
Discrimination In Employment Act.'50 Although several of these cases in-
volved noteworthy issues, their precedential value in light of the 1978
amendments'57 to the Act is questionable.

In Quina v. Owens-Corning Fiberglass Corp. ,' 5 8 the court reaffirmed that
the pre-1978 amendment requirement that a plaintiff had to give the Sec-
retary of Labor a notice of intent to sue within 180 days of the alleged
discriminatory act was a jurisdictional prerequisite to an ADEA suit in
district court. In this case, plaintiff did not file his notice of intent to sue
until almost a year after the date of his discharge and because of this late
filing, his complaint was dismissed. Plaintiff was given an opportunity to
file an amended complaint alleging reasons which would warrant equitable
tolling of the 180 day notice period. The district court, however, also dis-
missed the amended complaint for want of jurisdiction. On appeal, plain-
tiff argued again that the notice provision was subject to equitable toll-
ing. 5, The Fifth Circuit, finding that the district court correctly character-
ized the 180 day notice provision as "jurisdictional," continued its past
practice of avoiding the equitable tolling issue. The court instead con-
cluded that there was no reason to apply any tolling principle in this case
since plaintiff's amended complaint alleged little more than "ignorance of
the law." In affirming the district court's dismissal, it summed up the case
as follows: "An ADEA complaint, time-barred on its face, cannot serve as
a fishing pole to discover down the road some reason which the plaintiff
can use to justify his failure to meet the threshold 180 day notice require-
ment of §626(d)(1)." 60

156. 29 U.S.C.A. §§621 to 634 (1970).
157. Pub. L. No. 95-256, 92 Stat. 189, April 6, 1978. The 1978 Amendments to the Age

Discrimination Employment Act of 1967, which generally raised the protected age limit for
workers in the private sector from 65 to 70 and also included many other substantive and
procedural changes in the law, went into effect on January 1, 1979, except that the effective
date of some provisions, especially that involving mandatory retirement under a pension plan
or seniority system, was deferred until a later date.

158. 575 F.2d 1115 (5th Cir. 1978).
159. At the time, two other circuits had held that the 180 day requirement could be

subject to equitable tolling. See Dartt v. Shell Oil Co., 539 F.2d 1256 (10th Cir. 1976), aff'd
per curiam by an equally divided Court, 434 U.S. 99 (1977) and Bonham v. Dresser Indus.,
Inc., 569 F.2d 187 (3rd Cir.), cert. denied sub nor, Dresser Indus., Inc. v. Bonham, - U.S.

- 99 S. Ct. 87, 58 L. Ed. 2d 113 (1978).
160. 575 F.2d at 1119.
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In Thomas v. E. I. DuPont de Nemours & Co.,"6 the court interpreted
the same 180 day notice provision, but reached an opposite result. Al-
though again avoiding the equitable tolling question, the Fifth Circuit held
that plaintiff should have been allowed to file an amended complaint. The
court relied upon the admonition in Rule 15(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, which stipulates that leave to amend "shall be freely given
when justice so requires."' 62 The court concluded "that once 180 days have
passed after one unlawful act, an employer cannot ignore repeated untime-
barred attempts within the company to rectify the original wrong and
thereby violate the ADEA anew with impunity."'63

The 1978 amendments to the ADEA, however, substantially changed the
procedural requirements for filing suit under the ADEA, including the 180
day notice of intent to sue provision.6 4 Neither of these decisions should
be relied upon without first consulting these amendments.

The court once again discussed the proper burden of proof in an ADEA
action in Marshall v. Westinghouse Electric Corp.'65 The Secretary of
Labor (who had brought the action on the employee's behalf) argued that
once plaintiff made out a prima facie case, 6 then the "burden of persua-
sion" must be shifted to the employer to establish that the differentiating
factors rather than age which resulted in plaintiff's discharge were criteria
that were also applied in like fashion to all other similarly situated employ-
ees. ' 7 In rejecting this argument, the court reiterated its prior holdings 6 '
that in an ADEA action, once the plaintiff makes out a prima facie case,

161. 574 F.2d 1324 (5th Cir. 1978).
162. Id. at 1329.
163. Id. at 1331.
164. Under the original Act, an aggrieved person was required to file a notice of intent to

sue with the Secretary of Labor within 180 days after the alleged act of discrimination (300
days in a state deferral situation), and then had to wait 60 days before filing suit in federal
court, in order that the Secretary would have an opportunity to conciliate the claim. Although
the 1978 amendments retained the 180 day requirement, the aggrieved party must now file a
"charge" rather than a "notice of intent to sue" to file such action. 29 U.S.C.A. §626(d)
(1970). Although the amended provision has not yet been subjected to judicial interpretation,
the Conference Committee report discussing the amendments stated that the "charge" re-
quirement was not intended as a "jurisdictional prerequisite to maintaining an action under
the ADEA," so that equitable tolling would be available to plaintiffs failing to file a charge
within the 180 day period. See CONFERENcE REP., H.R. REP. No. 95-950, 95th Cong., 2d Sess.
(1978).

165. 576 F.2d 588 (5th Cir. 1978).
166. The court stated that a plaintiff in an ADEA action made out a prima facie case by

showing (1) that he was within the statutorily protected age group, (2) that he was discharged,
(3) that the employer sought to replace him with a younger person, and (4) that he was
replaced with the younger person outside the protected group. Id. at 590.

167. Id.
168. See Price v. Maryland Cas. Co., 561 F.2d 609 (5th Cir. 1977); Marshall v. Goodyear

Tire and Rubber Co., 554 F.2d 730 (5th Cir. 1977); and Bittar v. Air Canada, 512 F.2d 582
(5th Cir. 1975); cf. Hodgson v. First Fed. Say. & Loan Ass'n, 455 F.2d 818 (5th Cir. 1972).
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the defendant must only meet the more lenient burden of "going forward
with the evidence" to show that "reasonable factors other than age" were
involved in the plaintiff's discharge.' 69

Finally, in Murphy v. American Motors Sales Corp.,'"" the court reiter-
ated its prior holding in Dean v. American Security Insurance Co. '7 that
punitive damages are not recoverable in an ADEA action. The court was
also confronted with the question of whether a plaintiff has a right to a jury
trial on a claim for back wages in an ADEA action, which, as the court
noted, recently was answered in the affirmative by the Supreme Court of
the United States in Lorillard v. Pons.'7 2

V. OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH ACT

One of the court's most active areas in 1978, and some of its most note-
worthy decisions, involved those cases dealing with the controversial Occu-
pational Safety and Health Act.'7 Perhaps the court's most striking opin-
ion during this survey period was Marshall v. Gibson's Products, Inc. '7

This case arose when OSHA compliance officers attempted a routine but
warrantless inspection at one of the company's retail stores. When the
company refused to admit the inspectors, the Secretary of Labor brought
suit in district court to compel the inspection. The company counter-
claimed, alleging that §8(a)'75 of the Act was repugnant to the Fourth
Amendment, and a three-judge panel was convened pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§2282.111 In a controversial decision, the panel ruled that the Fourth
Amendment required the Secretary to obtain a proper warrant prior to any
inspection. 7 7 The Secretary appealed, but the Fifth Circuit refrained from
ruling on this case until the Supreme Court handed down its landmark
decision in Marshall v. Barlow's Inc.,'" which confirmed that warrantless
OSHA inspections violated the Fourth Amendment. Thus, after Barlow's
Inc., it seemed likely that the Fifth Circuit would merely affirm per cur-
ium. Instead, the court shocked both the parties and all other interested
observers by ruling that a federal district court lacks subject matter juris-

169. 576 F.2d at 592.
170. 570 F.2d 1226 (5th Cir. 1978).
171. 559 F.2d 1036 (5th Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1066 (1978).
172. 434 U.S. 575 (1978). It should also be mentioned that the 1978 amendments to the

Act give a plaintiff a statutory right to jury trial in an ADEA action. 29 U.S.C.A. §628(c)(2)
(1970).

173. 29 U.S.C.A. §651 (1970).
174. 584 F.2d 668 (5th Cir. 1978).
175. 29 U.S.C.A. §657(a) (1970).
176. 28 U.S.C.A. §2282 has subsequently been repealed. See 90 Stat. 11 (1976).
177. Brennan v. Gibson's Prods., Inc., 407 F. Supp. 154, 156 (E.D. Tex. 1976).
178. 436 U.S. 307 (1978).
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diction to entertain suits by the Secretary of Labor to compel an inspection
pursuant to §8(a) of the Act.7 '

The court's opinion is clearly a sound piece of jurisprudence. Starting
with the general proposition that federal courts are courts of limited juris-
diction, and that such jurisdiction is to be exercised only where prescribed
by Congress, the court then closely examined the Act itself and could find
no grant of authority to entertain suits to compel inspections.' " This omis-
sion was particularly significant since Congress expressly granted federal
jurisdiction in different contexts in other provisions of the Act."" Where
Congress refused to grant jurisdiction, the court refused to infer it.

Perhaps the significance of Gibson's Products, Inc., is best illustrated by
the dissent, which warns that

the owner of a business establishment can simply refuse to admit the
inspector even when armed with a warrant and be immune from any court
process requiring him to comply with the clear purpose of the statute.
Except for those businesses that are willing voluntarily to open their doors
to the inspector when he comes initially, the enforcement of OSHA is
stopped in its tracks. 2

Indeed, if the dissent's admonition is correct, Gibson's Products, Inc. may
prove to be a more serious threat and bigger thorn in OSHA's side than
the warrant requirement of Barlow's Inc.

In American Petroleum Institute v. OSHA,'8 the court shot down
OSHA's new health standard limiting exposure to benzene. The new
health standard, which was considerably more stringent than its predeces-
sor, required employers to insure that no employee be exposed to an air-
borne concentration of benzene in excess of one part benzene per million
parts of air (1 ppm) averaged over an eight-hour day,"" that no employee

179. 584 F.2d at 671-73.
180. Id. at 674. Although the court found that §8(a) of the Act, 29 U.S.C.A. §657(a)

(1970), authorized the Secretary to "enter without delay and at reasonable times" any em-
ployer facility covered under the Act, there was no provision in either this section or any other
provision of the Act expressly providing district court jurisdiction should such entry be re-
fused.

181. For instance, §8(b) of the Act, 29 U.S.C.A. §657(b) (1970), grants a district court
jurisdiction to enforce subpoenas issued by the Secretary. In addition, §11(c)(2), 29 U.S.C.A.
§660(c)(2) (1970), grants a district court jurisdiction over complaints filed by employees who
feel that they have been discriminated against for filing or causing to be filed complaints
under OSHA. Further, §13(a) of the Act, 29 U.S.C.A. §662(a) (1970), confers jurisdiction
upon district courts to restrain conditions that pose an imminent danger to employees. Fi-
nally, §17(1) of the Act, 29 U.S.C.A. §666(k) (1970), allows the United States (rather than
the Secretary) to bring suit in district court to recover civil penalties incurred under OSHA.

182. 584 F.2d at 680.
183. 581 F.2d 493 (5th Cir. 1978), cert. granted, - U.S. -, 98 S. Ct. 1212, 59 L. Ed.

2d 453 (1979).
184. Benzene is a ubiquitous hydrocarbon compound that is manufactured for a wide

variety of industrial uses. Long recognized as a toxic substance, it is primarily produced by

[Vol. 30



LABOR LAW

be exposed to dermal contact with liquid benzene, and that caution labels
be affixed to containers of benzene products. These three aspects of the
new standard were attacked by numerous employers and industry associa-
tions on petitions to review pursuant to §6(f)"'8 of the Act.

The industry primarily argued that substantial evidence and the best
available evidence did not show that the reduction of the permissible ben-
zene exposure limit (from 10 ppm to 1 ppm) was reasonably necessary or
appropriate to provide safe or healthful places of employment. OSHA, on
the other hand, contended that the reduction in permissible exposure was
justified by its findings that benzene causes leukemia and that at present
there exists no known safe level for benzene exposure. Starting from the
proposition that the Act authorizes OSHA to enact only standards which
are "reasonably necessary" to provide safer healthful work places, the
court was particularly concerned with the lack of any finding by OSHA as
to the benefits to be derived from the more stringent standard. By OSHA's
own estimates, the estimated cost of compliance with the new standard
was approximately one-half billion dollars.

Apparently, OSHA had "merely assumed" that the benefits from the
new standard "may be appreciable," and that industry could absorb the
cost. The court, however, found that §6(b)(5) 16 of the Act does not give
OSHA "the unbridled discretion to adopt standards designed to create
absolutely risk-free work places regardless of cost. 1 8s1

Since OSHA was unable to justify its finding that benefits of a limitation
on permissible benzene exposure bore a reasonable relationship to the
resulting one-half billion dollar price, the court set aside this OSHA stan-
dard. 1'

Using a similar analysis, the court set aside other aspects of the stan-
dard, including the provision about dermal contact with liquid benzene.
It should be noted that the court did not find that a more stringent benzene
standard was unnecessary, or that OSHA was unjustified in promulgating
a more stringent standard. The court essentially concluded that if OSHA
is going to promulgate a standard at all, it must do so properly and com-
pletely, and in the manner Congress has mandated.

the petro-chemical and petroleum refining industries. Its primary use is as a feedstock in the
manufacture of other organic chemicals, although it is also used in the manufacture of
detergents, pesticides, solvents, paint, and as a solvent and reactant in chemical laboratories.
581 F.2d at 497-98. The former OSHA standard had allowed a maximum benzene exposure
of lOppm. This standard had been adopted by the American National Standards Institute
in 1969, and adopted by OSHA in 1971 as a national consensus standard pursuant to 29
U.S.C.A. §655(a) (1970).

185. 29 U.S.C.A. §655(f) (1970).
186. 29 U.S.C.A. §655(b)(5) (1970).
187. 581 F.2d at 502.
188. Id. at 504-05.
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In Stephenson Enterprises, Inc. v. Marshall,5 8 the court resolved two
issues of first impression in the Fifth Circuit. The first question concerned
OSHA's obligation under §9(a) 90 to issue citations with "reasonable
promptness." The employer argued that Congress intended "reasonable
promptness" to mean that citations should issue within seventy-two hours
after the inspection. Since the citations in this case did not issue until two
weeks after the inspection, the employer argued that the citations should
be set aside. Neatly sidestepping this issue, the court found that an em-
ployer must show that it was prejudiced by any delay in issuing citations.
In this case, the court found that no prejudice had been shown.'"'

This case also marks the first application of the so-called "informer's
privilege" to an OSHA case. The OSHA inspector had interviewed an
employee during the course of his inspection. At the hearing before an
administrative law judge, the inspector declined to reveal the employee's
name on cross-examination, asserting the "informer's privilege." The court
rejected the company's argument that this privilege applied only to per-
sons voluntarily coming forward with information, and not persons picked
at random by the inspector. Instead, the court adopted a balancing ap-
proach. The public's interest in efficient enforcement of the Act, and the
informer's right to be protected against possible retaliation, should be
balanced against the defendant's need to prepare for trial.9 2 In this case,
the court struck the balance in favor of protecting the employee's name
from disclosure.

93

In Marshall v. B. W. Harrison Lumber Co.,' 9' the court held that an
employer could object to the particularity of an uncontested citation in a
subsequent failure-to-correct action pursuant to §10(b). 15 In this case
OSHA had issued the employer a citation for violation of its noise level
standards. Although the citation was basically a mere repetition of the
standard itself, the employer did not contest it. When the OSHA inspector
returned a few months later and found the violations uncorrected, the
Secretary issued a failure-to-correct notification, which the employer did
contest. At the administrative hearing the employer attacked the vague-
ness of the original uncontested citation. This argument was sustained by
the ALJ, and upheld by the Review Commission. On appeal, the Secretary

189. 578 F.2d 1021 (5th Cir. 1978).
190. 29 U.S.C.A. §658(a) (1970).
191. 578 F.2d at 1023.
192. Id. at 1025.
193. The court was also presented with an argument that the inspection in this case

violated the Fourth Amendment since it took place without a warrant. See Marshall v.
Barlow's, Inc., 436 U.S. 307 (1978). However, the court was unimpressed with the company's
assertion that its plant manager might have been "bedazzled" by the OSHA inspector's
credentials, and found that the company had consented to the inspection. 578 F.2d at 1024.

194. 569 F.2d 1303 (5th Cir. 1978).
195. 29 U.S.C.A. §659(b) (1970).
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argued that §10(a) bars the employer from contesting the particularity of
the citation; §10(a) states that an uncontested citation "shall be deemed
a final order of the Commission and not subject to review by any court or
agency."'"6 Although this language would foreclose an employer's objection
as to the fact of violation at the time of the citations, the court held that
did not necessarily foreclose objections about procedural defects that
might affect the integrity of the company's failure to correct its violations.
Having found that the employer could raise this argument, the court
agreed that the vague citation in this case did not "describe with particu-
larity the nature of the violation" as required by §9(a).11

In Central of Georgia Railroad v. OSAHRC,"'1 the court was not con-
fronted with the question of whether the Act was violated, but, rather, who
violated it. The Central of Georgia Railroad was issued a citation under
the "general housekeeping" standard' 9 because of debris on its tracks,
even though the tracks in question were on property owned by Continental
Can Company. Furthermore, the railroad had a contract with Continental
Can making Continental responsible for maintaining the tracks in safe
operating condition. The railroad thus argued that if anyone should have
been cited, it should have been Continental Can and not the railroad.
Although the court agreed that control over the alleged hazard was a factor
to be considered in imposing liability, it found that this was an affirmative
defense which the railroad had not proven.200 The court also agreed with
the Commission that the railroad could have suspended its service to Con-
tinental Can under the contract if the company failed to keep debris off
the tracks.

Finally, in B & B Insulation, Inc. v. OSAHRC, 20' the court was con-
fronted with a constitutional vagueness challenge to the general "personal
protective equipment" standard.2 02 Although the court upheld the consti-
tutionality of this standard, it nonetheless found the standard unenforcea-
ble in the particular circumstances of this case. The court reaffirmed the
"reasonable person" test2 03 as the proper test in determining whether a
standard is unenforceably vague. The court, however, emphasized that in

196. 29 U.S.C.A. §659(a) (1970).
197. 569 F.2d at 1308.
198. 576 F.2d 620 (5th Cir. 1978).
199. This particular standard, in typically vague fashion, provides in pertinent part that

"all places of employment ... shall be kept clean and orderly and in a sanitary condition."
29 C.F.R. §1910.22(a)(1) (1978).

200. 576 F.2d at 624.
201. 583 F.2d 1364 (5th Cir. 1978).
202. This standard, yet another example of OSHA's aptitude for vagueness, provides:

"The employer is responsible for requiring the wearing of appropriate personal protective
equipment in all operations where there is an exposure to hazardous conditions or where this
part indicates the need for using such equipment to reduce the hazards to the employees."
29 C.F.R. §1926.28(a) (1978).

203. See Ryder Truck Lines, Inc. v. Brennan, 497 F.2d 230 (5th Cir. 1974).
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applying this test, the Commission should look to customary industry
practices."' Where OSHA wants to encourage a higher standard of safety
performance than customary industry practices provide, the Secretary
could utilize its standard-making machinery and promulgate a specific
standard. In this case, since there was no evidence that the company's
conduct fell below the customary practice in the industry, the citation was
set aside.m

VI. MISCELLANEOUS CASES

In a case of first inpression in the Fifth Circuit, the court in Pacific
Molasses Co. v. NLRBN was confronted with the issue of whether an
employer can acquire under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) 0 7

copies of union authorization cards that were submitted to the NLRB in
support of a union petition for a representation election. A secondary issue
in this case was whether, in the same contexts, an employer could obtain
a copy of NLRB Form 4069." The district court had ordered the authoriza-
tion cards disclosed but had held that Form 4069 was exempt from disclo-
sure.

On appeal, however, the court followed the lead of the Third Circuit °*
in finding that the union authorization cards were exempt from disclosure
under the FOIA's exemption 6. This exemption provides for the nondisclo-
sure of "personnel and medical files and similar files the disclosure of
which would constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of personal pri-
vacy. "210 The key question here was whether the union authorization cards
constituted "similar files." According to the court, this required a determi-
nation of the "personal nature" of the information in question. After find-
ing that the personal preference of employees with regard to union repre-
sentation was sufficiently personal in nature, the court found the cards
exempt.

2 11
The dissent in Pacific Molasses Co. is a much more sensible reading of

the statute. It boggles the mind as to how the typical boilerplate union
authorization card is in any way "similar" to a personnel or medical file.
As the dissent stated: "[c]alling the cards similar does not alone make
them similar. The facts control. If a cow is called a horse, that does not

204. 583 F.2d at 1370-71.
205. Id. at 1372.
206. 577 F.2d 1172 (5th Cir. 1978).
207. 5 U.S.C.A. §552 (1970).
208. The Board's Form 4069 is a statistical report which discloses the number of employ-

ees in the prospective bargaining unit, the number of signed authorization cards, and the
percentage of employees in the unit who support the union.

209. See Committee on Masonic Homes v. NLRB, 556 F.2d 214 (3d Cir. 1977).
210. 5 U.S.C.A. §552(b)(6) (1970).
211. 577 F.2d at 1182-83.
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make it one.""' The exemption contemplates an examination of the
"personal nature" of the information in question only after it is initially
determined that the information is a "personnel, medical or similar file."
If it is neither, then that is the end of the matter, and the information must
be disclosed.2 1 3 Furthermore, the majority's opinion is hardly consistent
with the general congressional mandate that the FOIA be interpreted so
as to allow the fullest possible disclosure of government records.'"

The entire panel, however, agreed that the NLRB's Form 4069 could not
be withheld from disclosure. The Board argued that this form was exempt
under the FOIA's exemption 5,'

215 which protects "inter-agency or intra-
agency memorandums or letters." Finding Form 4069 to be "purely fac-
tual" material rather than "deliberative in nature," the court held that it
was not protected from disclosure.2 1

6 Since there was no pending enforce-
ment proceeding or ongoing investigation in the case, the court further held
that the form was not exempt under the FOIA's exemption 7(A), which
protects "investigatory records compiled for law enforcement purposes.'""2

212. Id. at 1187.
213. Id. at 1184.
214. Id. at 1188.
215. 5 U.S.C.A. §552(b)(5) (1970).
216. 577 F.2d at 1183.
217. 5 U.S.C.A. §552(b)(7)(A) (1970).
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